SUPREME COURT COPY

SUPREME COURT
FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

MAY 26 2009 8

Frederick K. Onlrich Clerk

DONALD SULLIVAN, DEANNA EVICH, and RICHARD BURKOW, individually, and on behalf of other persons similarly situated and the general public,

Petitioners,

ν.

ORACLE CORPORATION, a
Delaware Corporation,
ORACLE UNIVERSITY, form
unknown, and DOES 1 through
10, inclusive

Respondents.

No. S170577

Deputy

United State Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit Case No. 06-56649

United States District Court, C.D. CA Case No. CV-05-00392-AHS, Hon. Alicemarie H. Stotler

PETITIONERS' OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

I. INTRODUCTION

The United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit certified three questions to this Court for answers. All three questions involve application of California state law to employees working overtime for a California company, but they raise very different issues.

The first question asks whether California's overtime laws apply when a California company employees non-residents of California to work overtime in California. This Court should answer affirmatively. Facially, California law applies to regulate employment occurring in this state. Under a conflict of law analysis, no other state has any interest to deny payment of overtime wages to their residents who come into this state to work overtime for a California company. Payment of overtime wages to non-residents who work overtime in California for a California company does not offend any provision of the United States Constitution, and raises no serious practical problems of implementation.

The second question is entirely dependent on the first. The second question simply asks, if California overtime laws do apply to non-residents who work overtime here, does California's Unfair Competition Law predicated on such a violation also apply? Again, the answer is yes.

Finally, the third question posed is totally distinct from the first two. The third question asks, if a California employer makes a decision in California not to pay overtime wages to its employees who work overtime in other states in violation of federal law, does the UCL apply to the claims of those non-resident employees who are

injured by the employer's conduct. Because California law properly applies to California companies whose illegal conduct in California harms non-residents, this Court should answer this question in the affirmative as well.

II. STATEMENT OF ISSUES

The United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit's Order Certifying Questions to the California Supreme Court, *Sullivan* v. *Oracle Corporation*, 557 F.3d 979, 983 (9th Cir. 2009), stated the issues presented as follows:

First, does the California Labor Code apply to overtime work performed in California for a California-based employer by out-of-state plaintiffs in the circumstances of this case, such that overtime pay is required for work in excess of eight hours per day or in excess of forty hours per week?

Second, does § 17200 apply to the overtime work described in question one?

Third, does § 17200 apply to overtime work performed outside California for a California-based employer by out-of-state plaintiffs in the circumstances of this case if the employer failed to comply with the overtime provisions of the FLSA?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The three named plaintiffs in this putative nationwide class action worked as instructors for California-headquartered Oracle Corporation. They delivered training in the use of Oracle's software products in California and elsewhere in the United States. The plaintiffs are not residents of California.

For a period, Oracle classified its instructors as exempt from overtime pay requirements and therefore did not pay them overtime wages. Plaintiffs sued, alleging they worked overtime for which they should have been compensated under California and federal law, and asserted three claims.¹

3

Plaintiffs' first claim alleges a violation of the California Labor Code. *See*, *e.g.*, Cal. Lab. Code § 510(a). The Ninth Circuit accurately summarized Plaintiffs' first claim as follows:

Plaintiffs allege that Oracle failed to pay overtime for work performed in California to Instructors domiciled in other states who worked complete days and complete weeks in California. Plaintiffs seek to apply the Labor Code to a full day's work when that work was performed entirely in California, and to a full week's work when that work was performed entirely in California. They do not seek to apply the Labor Code to only a part of a day's work or part of a week's work that was performed in California.

Sullivan v. Oracle Corp., 557 F.3d 979, 982 (9th Cir. 2009)

The second claim alleges a violation of California's Unfair Competition Law ("UCL"). See Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200 et seq. The second claim is predicated entirely on the alleged violation in the first claim; that is, Oracle's failure to pay overtime wages to its instructors when they worked overtime within the state of California is a violation of California's Labor Code, and is therefore an illegal business practice in violation of the UCL.

¹ A predecessor lawsuit, *Gabel & Sullivan v. Oracle*, Case No. SACV 03-348 AHS (MLGx) (C.D. Cal. Mar. 29, 2005), settled and released other claims. All the claims at issue here were specifically preserved as part of the settlement of *Sullivan I*.

The third claim is entirely separate and distinct from the first two. The third claim also alleges violation of California's UCL, but is predicated on underlying violations of the federal Fair Labor Standards Act ("FLSA"). See 29 U.C.S. § 201, et seq. Plaintiffs allege Oracle violated California's UCL when it made the decision in California at its Redwood Shores headquarters to classify its instructors as exempt and deny them payment of overtime wages in violation of the FLSA for work performed in other states.

In the District Court, Plaintiffs moved for summary adjudication of three issues: 1) that the Labor Code provided for damages for their unpaid overtime work in California; 2) that the UCL provided for restitution for their unpaid overtime work in California (under the Labor Code) and elsewhere in the United States (under the FLSA); and that private severance agreements between Oracle and some of its former employees did not settle claims for unpaid overtime wages.

Oracle simultaneously moved for summary judgment on all three of Plaintiffs' claims.

The District Court granted Oracle's motion and denied all of Plaintiffs' motions as moot. Plaintiffs timely appealed to the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit. The Ninth Circuit reversed in part and affirmed in part. *Sullivan v. Oracle Corp.*, 547 F.3d 1177 (9th Cir. 2008)(withdrawn by *Sullivan v. Oracle Corp.*, 557 F.3d 979 (9th Cir. 2009)). The Ninth Circuit reversed on the first and second claims, holding California's Labor Code does apply to a California company that employs non-residents to work overtime entirely within the state of California, and that the UCL does apply to

such a claim. *Id.* at 1181-86. The Ninth Circuit affirmed on the third claim, holding the UCL does not apply to claims predicated on violations of the FLSA where the work was performed in other states. *Id.* at 1186-87.

Both sides petitioned for rehearing and in the alternative to certify issues to the California Supreme Court for resolution. On February 17, 2009, the Ninth Circuit withdrew its opinion and certified three questions to this Court for resolution. *Sullivan v. Oracle Corp.*, 557 F.3d 979 (9th Cir. 2009). On April 22, 2009, this Court accepted the Ninth Circuit's petition.

IV. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Material facts were stipulated by the parties and approved by the District Court. (A true and correct copy of the stipulated facts is attached hereto as an appendix.) Plaintiffs were employed by Oracle as instructors.² (Stipulation, ¶¶ 15, 45, 60.) During relevant periods Oracle "required its Instructors to travel to destinations within the United States away from their city of domicile for the purpose of performing work for Oracle." (*Id.* ¶ 12.)

Plaintiff Donald Sullivan worked as an instructor for Oracle from June 1998 to January 2004. (*Id.* ¶ 15.) During this period, Sullivan resided in Colorado. (*Id.* ¶ 14.) During his tenure as an

² The Ninth Circuit's recitation of facts in its petition certifying the questions mistakenly suggests the Plaintiffs and/or class worked for Oracle Canada. In fact, they worked for Oracle Corporation. Facts pertaining to Oracle Canada included in the Stipulation relate to a planned motion Plaintiffs never filed.

instructor, Oracle employed Sullivan to work in California for 74 days. (*Id.* ¶¶ 19, 31, 36.)

)

Plaintiff Deanna Evich worked as an instructor Oracle Instructor from August 1999 to July 2004. (*Id.* ¶ 45.) During this period, Evich resided in Colorado. (*Id.* ¶ 42.) During her tenure as an instructor, Oracle employed Evich to work in California for 69 days. (*Id.* ¶¶ 46, 48, 51, 53, 55.)

Plaintiff Richard Burkow worked as an instructor for Oracle Instructor from March 1998 to April 2002. (*Id.* ¶ 60.) During this period, Burkow resided in Arizona. (*Id.* ¶ 58.) During his tenure as an instructor, Oracle employed Sullivan to work in California for 20 days. (*Id.* ¶¶ 62, 69.)

For a number of years, Oracle classified its instructors as exempt from the overtime provisions of California's Labor Code and the federal FLSA. (Id. ¶ 1-3.) Oracle made the decision to classify the Instructors exempt from the overtime provisions of the Labor Code and the FLSA primarily from its headquarters in Redwood Shores, California. (Id. ¶ 2). While classified as exempt, Oracle did not pay its instructors for any overtime they worked. (Id. ¶ 3).

Additionally, as the Ninth Circuit noted,

In 2003, Oracle reclassified its California-based Instructors and began paying them overtime under the Labor Code. In 2004, Oracle reclassified all of its Instructors working in the United States and began paying them overtime under the FLSA.

Sullivan v. Oracle Corp., 557 F.3d 981 (9th Cir. 2009).

Moreover, Oracle has not paid the Plaintiffs or the putative class for the overtime worked prior to reclassification at issue in this case. *Id.*

V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

3

First, the California Labor Code requires California employers to pay overtime wages when its employees work overtime in California, because California has validly exercised its police powers to regulate working conditions within its territory. Moreover, there is no conflicting Constitutional provision or foreign law that has displaced the California Labor Code as the rule of decision for claims arising from unpaid overtime worked in California.

Second, California's UCL applies where a California employer commits the illegal business practice of violating California's Labor Code by failing to pay overtime wages for work performed in California.

Third, California's UCL applies to the claims of non-resident employees who worked overtime in other states without being paid the overtime premium required by federal law where the California-employer's decision to withhold the payment of those overtime wages occurred in California.

VI. ARGUMENT

A. CALIFORNIA'S OVERTIME LAWS APPLY WHEN A CALIFORNIA COMPANY EMPLOYS NON-RESIDENTS TO WORK OVERTIME IN CALIFORNIA.

The first question the Ninth Circuit asked this Court to answer is whether California's overtime laws apply to non-residents who are employed by a California company to work more than eight hours per day or more than 40 hours per week entirely within California. First, California's overtime laws facially apply to persons employed to work

overtime in California. Second, conflict of law analysis reveals no other states have any greater interest to see their laws applied to deny their residents the protections afforded Californians when those non-residents work overtime inside California. And third, there are no Constitutional principles to prevent California from regulating overtime within its boundaries.

1. California's Overtime Laws Facially Apply to Work Performed in California.

California, like all states, has the power to protect all workers within its boundaries. *See De Canas v. Bica*, 424 U.S. 351, 356; 93 S.Ct. 933, 937 (1976)("States possess broad authority under their police powers to regulate the employment relationship to protect workers within the State. Child labor laws, minimum and other wage laws, laws affecting occupational health and safety, and workmen's compensation laws are only a few examples").

The California legislature has made explicit that California's laws apply within California's borders. Cal. Gov. Code § 110 ("The sovereignty and jurisdiction of this State extends to all places within its boundaries as established by the Constitution"). California's overtime statute provides that "any work in excess of eight hours in one workday and any work in excess of 40 hours in any one workweek" requires compensation at a premium rate." Cal. Lab. Code § 510(a). The Labor Code provides that "any employee receiving less than ... the legal overtime compensation applicable to the employee is entitled to recover in a civil action the unpaid balance of the full amount of this ... overtime compensation, including interest

thereon, reasonable attorney's fees, and costs of suit." Cal. Lab. Code § 1194 (Emphasis added).

The Labor Code defines "employee" to include "every person, including aliens and minors, rendering service in any business for an employer...." Cal. Lab. Code § 350(b)(emphasis added). "Employer" is defined as "every person engaged in any business or enterprise in this state that has one or more persons in service...." Cal. Lab. Code § 350(a)(emphasis added).

The Labor Code provides for limited and specific exemptions to these overtime requirements. See Cal. Lab. Code § 515. It is black letter law that exemptions "are narrowly construed against the employer and their application is limited to those employees plainly and unmistakably within their terms." See, e.g., Nordquist v. McGraw-Hill Broadcasting Co., 32 Cal. App. 4th 555, 562 (1995). There is no exemption for non-residents who travel into this state and work for a California employer.

In enacting the Labor Code, the California legislature explicitly stated its intent to regulate employment occurring inside the state. *See* Cal. Labor Code § 1173 ("It is the continuing duty of the Industrial Welfare Commission . . . to ascertain the wages paid to all employees in this state . . ."). Indeed, the California legislature expressed California's interest in protecting people employed in California, regardless of where they are from:

The Legislature finds and declares the following: All protections, rights, and remedies available under state law, except any reinstatement remedy prohibited by federal law, are available to all individuals regardless of

immigration status who have applied for employment, or who are or who have been employed, in this state.

Cal. Lab. Code § 1171.5(a).

This Court has also held that California's employment laws govern work performed within the state. *Tidewater Marine Western, Inc. v. Bradshaw*, 14 Cal. 4th 557, 566 (1996)("Like the criminal laws ... California employment laws implicitly extend to employment occurring within California's state law boundaries"); *see also, Morillion v. Royal Packing Co.*, 22 Cal. 4th 575, 581(2000)("The Industrial Welfare Commission (IWC) is the state agency empowered to formulate regulations (known as wage orders) governing employment in the State of California")(internal quotation omitted).

Here, the Plaintiffs are non-residents who were employed by California-based Oracle to work more than eight hours per day or more than forty hours per week inside California. Plaintiffs seek recovery under California's overtime laws only when they worked overtime in California; that is, they do not seek recovery in instances where they might have worked less than eight hours in California in a given day but more than eight hours total. *See Sullivan v. Oracle Corp.*, 557 F.3d 979, 982 (9th Cir. 2009). There is no question, therefore, that California's overtime laws facially apply here to overtime worked entirely within California.

2. Conflict of Law Analysis Reveals No Other State Has a Greater Interest to Have Its Law Applied to Work Performed Entirely in California.

The next step in determining whether California's law should apply is a conflict of law analysis. The conflict analysis in California

begins with the presumption that the court can apply only California's law as the rule of decision unless the proponent of a foreign rule establishes the existence of an overriding foreign government interest to have its foreign rule of decision applied to the facts. *Hurtado v. Super. Ct.*, 11 Cal. 3d 574, 581 (1974); *see also Washington Mut. Bank v. Super. Ct.*, 24 Cal. 4th 906, 919 (2001). In order to overcome that presumption, the proponent of a foreign law has the burden of establishing the forum's law should be disregarded. *Washington Mut.*, 24 Cal. 4th at 920. To do so, the proponent must first identify the specific foreign rules and establish that they differ materially from a California rule. *Id.* at 920. Second, the proponent must establish that the foreign states have an interest in having their laws applied. *Id.* at 920. Third, the proponent must establish that the foreign states' interests would be more impaired were their laws were not applied. *Id.*

Here, the Plaintiffs lived in Arizona and Colorado. Neither state has a superior interest in having its laws applied to overtime worked in California.

a) Arizona Has No Overtime Law That Could Supplant California Law.

Mr. Burkow lived in Arizona. Under the *Hurtado* conflict of law analysis, the moving party must first identify a specific, conflicting foreign rule of law. Arizona does not have a state overtime law. Because Arizona does not have a conflicting overtime law, Arizona does not have a superior interest to deny its residents the overtime protections afforded to California residents when the

Arizona residents are employed by a California company to work overtime in California.

Moreover, even though the FLSA operates in Arizona, as it does in every state, no conflict arises between the FLSA and the California Labor Code, because the FLSA specifically provides that states may establish more protective employment laws than what is provided in the FLSA. 29 U.S.C. § 218.

Because there is no foreign overtime law in Arizona, there is no conflict of foreign overtime law with California overtime law, and the analysis ends there. *See, Washington Mutual*, 24 Cal.4th at 920.

Oracle nonetheless has argued that California's overtime law should not apply to Arizona residents who work overtime in California for a California employer because Arizona has expressed "a desire not to burden employers with the duty to comply with a second set of laws on the same subject." (Oracle's Petition for *En Banc* Rehearing, p. 8.) There is simply no authority that Arizona has any such interest. Moreover, this case has nothing to do with Arizona employers and can therefore have no effect on the burden imposed on Arizona employers. This case involves a California employer who employed an Arizona resident to work overtime in California.

The sole case Oracle has cited in the past as authority for the proposition that Arizona has an interest in denying overtime to its residents when they work overtime in California is *DiMuro v*. *Industrial Commission of Arizona*, 142 Ariz. 57 (1984). *DiMuro*, however, involved interpretation of an Arizona statute specifically granting limited extraterritorial workers' compensation insurance coverage for work-related injuries. *See*, Ariz. Rev. Stat. § 23-904.A.

This insurance coverage statute has nothing to do with wages or working hours. Arizona apparently does have an expressed interest in making sure that workers' compensation insurance coverage extends to some Arizona employees when they travel out of state, but it does not follow that Arizona has any interest in denying overtime wages to employees who work overtime entirely in California. If *DiMuro* has any relevant value at all, it could stand for the proposition that Arizona knows how to draft statutes for extraterritorial application of laws, and because it has not done so in the case of overtime laws, it did not intend for such a law to apply out of state – even if such a law existed.

b) Colorado Does Not Have a Superior Interest to Have its Overtime Law Applied to Deny Its Residents Overtime Pay When They Work Overtime in California for a California Employer.

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