SUPREME COURT FILED

No. S170577

JUN 22 2009

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Frederick K. Ohrrich Clerk

Deputy

DONALD SULLIVAN, DEANNA EVICH, and RICHARD BURKOW, individually, and on behalf of other persons similarly situated and the general public,

Petitioners,

VS.

ORACLE CORPORATION, a Delaware Corporation, ORACLE UNIVERSITY, form unknown, and DOES 1 through 10, inclusive,

Respondents.

U.S. Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit
No. 06-56649
U.S. District Court, Central District of California
Hon. Alicemarie H. Stotler, Judge
No. CV-05-00392-AHS

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF RESPONDENT ORACLE CORPORATION

PAUL, HASTINGS, JANOFSKY & WALKER LLP

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

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

California wage-hour law does not cover Plaintiffs' employment. Plaintiffs are not California residents; they were based

and primarily worked in other states. Plaintiffs' contention that California law governs their claims ignores the interests their own home states have in the employment relationships. Choice-of-law principles show that California has minimal, if any, interest in regulating the wages of business travelers. Indeed, California has a substantial interest in *not* doing so, because the costs and complexities that would result from doing so would chill interstate travel that benefits the state. The California Legislature never intended to set (and should not be presumed to have set) the wage-hour rules for nonresident business travelers, and for good reason: It would wreak havoc on the payroll systems of employers as they struggled to comply with a crazy-quilt of conflicting state laws. Moreover, constitutional limits — the Commerce Clause — prohibit the extension of California state law to Plaintiffs. The Court should construe California law to avoid that serious constitutional question.

The UCL adds nothing to Plaintiffs' claims. If the overtime provisions of the Labor Code do not apply to business travelers who cross state lines, a claim under the UCL that incorporates by reference the same Labor Code provisions does not, either.

Plaintiffs' final claim, seeking recovery under the UCL for supposed FLSA violations occurring outside of California, also fails. The UCL does not apply extraterritorially. Plaintiffs contend that California law applies because Oracle is headquartered in California, and classified instructors as exempt employees "primarily"

in California. Plaintiffs are incorrect. An FLSA violation (if there was one) occurred where the supposedly misclassified employees actually worked and received their wages — which is outside of California.

V. THE COURT SHOULD ANSWER "NO" TO THE THREE CERTIFIED QUESTIONS

The California Labor Code and the UCL do not govern the employment relationships of nonresident business travelers briefly entering the state. The UCL also does not provide an extraterritorial California-law remedy for alleged FLSA violations occurring out of state. Oracle addresses the three certified questions in Sections A, B, and C, respectively.

A. The California Labor Code's Overtime Rules Do Not, And Constitutionally Cannot, Apply To Nonresidents Who Work Primarily In Other States.

Plaintiffs' claims rest on statutes that simply do not apply to them. The California Labor Code is intended to protect California-based employees, not any business traveler who happens temporarily to cross state lines.

1. The logic of *Tidewater* forecloses Plaintiffs' claims.

Tidewater Marine Western, Inc. v. Bradshaw, 14 Cal. 4th 557 (1996), considered wage-hour claims of California residents who left California to work. The case involved persons who performed services offshore. California (as *Tidewater* holds) has an interest in regulating employment relationships that are based in California. The employees contended that they should be paid under California law, and this Court agreed: "If an employee resides in California, receives pay in California, and works exclusively, or principally, in California, then that employee is a 'wage earner of California' and presumptively enjoys the protection of [California law]," no matter where the services at issue are actually performed. Id. at 578 (citation omitted; emphasis added); see also California Division of Labor Standards Enforcement, Enforcement Policy & Interpretive Manual § 43.6.12 (2002) (California wage-hour law covers "individuals who are domiciled in California but who work partly or, under some circumstances, even principally, outside the state.") (citing *Tidewater*) [hereinafter "DLSE MANUAL"].

The Ninth Circuit earlier reached the same conclusion in another case involving California law. *Pac. Merchant Shipping Ass 'n v. Aubry*, 918 F.2d 1409, 1424-25 (9th Cir. 1990) (because plaintiffs were California residents, were interviewed and hired in California, paid taxes in California, and performed work important to California,

California law followed them and governed their work outside California's borders).³

The now-vacated Ninth Circuit panel opinion acknowledged that, under *Tidewater*, "California residents working outside California [a]re covered by the [California] Labor Code." 547 F.3d at 1183 (emphasis deleted). But the panel did not explain why, if California law follows Californians who work temporarily elsewhere, the rule should not work both ways, with the law of other states governing their own citizens' business travel. Plaintiffs' brief in this Court makes only passing mention of *Tidewater* (Op. Br. at 10), and the reason is plain. Plaintiffs' position would produce a rule that California law trumps all other states' law in all cases, whether the business travelers are nonresidents entering our state or Californians leaving it. That rule cannot be reconciled with an appropriate "concern with comity," *United Bldg. & Constr. Trades Council v. Mayor & City Council of Camden*, 465 U.S. 208, 220 (1984) (emphasizing the importance of "interstate harmony").

³ Here, by contrast, none of the Plaintiffs paid California state income tax. Rather, each Plaintiff paid income tax solely in the state in which he or she was principally based. Plaintiffs' lawsuit therefore seeks the benefits of California law (eligibility for overtime compensation, under California's unique wage-hour laws, for days in which they worked in California) without accepting the corresponding burden (the obligation to pay California state income tax on the resulting earnings).

The Washington Supreme Court recently considered just this problem. In *Bostain v. Food Express, Inc.*, 153 P.3d 846 (Wash.), *cert. denied*, 128 S. Ct. 661 (2007), at issue was which state's law covered interstate truck drivers. The drivers were Washington-based, but their duties took them on the road for substantial periods of time. The relevant Washington statute covered only "employment within the state of Washington." *Id.* at 851, *citing* RCW 49.46.005. The Washington Supreme Court held, however, that its state law covers employment *relationships* grounded in Washington ("Washington-based employees," *id.* at 855), and that Washington wage-hour law covered the drivers even as they traveled elsewhere. As a result, even though the drivers spent much of their time away from Washington, their "employer would not be required, under a choice of laws analysis, to comply with another state's wage and hour statute as to that employee." *Id.* at 856.

The same rule should apply here.

2. The Restatement of Conflicts contradicts Plaintiffs' position.

The Restatement's rule is that normally only a single state's law governs an employment relationship. "The validity of a contract for the rendition of services and the rights created thereby are determined, in the absence of an effective choice of law by the parties, by the local law of the state where the contract requires that the services, or a major portion of the services, be rendered, unless, with

respect to the particular issue, some other state has a more significant relationship " RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF CONFLICTS OF LAWS § 196 cmt. c (1971) (emphasis added). See also DLSE Op. Letter of H. Thomas Cadell, Jr. (June 12, 2002) ("Were a conflict to arise and no choice of law intent was evident in the contract between the parties, the question of the correct law to apply would depend, of course, on which state (foreign or domestic) has the greater interest in the outcome of the matter. In large part, the residence of the parties would be determinative.") (emphasis added).

Plaintiffs' argument largely rests on a reductio-adabsurdum contention: that, if business travelers are not covered by California's wage-hour laws, they enter California protected by no law at all — not traffic laws, not antismoking rules, not workplace safety codes. (See Op. Br. at 17: "[N]o state would have jurisdiction to enforce its laws to ensure safe working conditions . . . [The employee would be immune from virtually any law . . . free from any oversight.") That is incorrect. Wage-hour law regulates a relationship, an intangible. E.g., Kramer v. Nowak, 908 F. Supp. 1281, 1285 (E.D. Pa. 1995) (Pollak, J.) (applying New Jersey law, even though some of the work was done in Pennsylvania and New York; because the bulk of the work was done in New Jersey, it follows that "New Jersey has a strong interest in having its law govern a relationship such as this one that was centered primarily in New Jersey") (emphasis added). By contrast, workplace safety regulations, speed limits, and other such regulations concern a *place*, which (if the

place is in California) the state has ample authority to regulate, regardless of who occupies or uses it.

3. This Court should not assume that the Legislature, by its silence, intended to create a rule that would cause practical problems.

Because the Legislature has not addressed the issue specifically,⁴ the Court in construing the law should take into account the (im)practical consequences of the regime that Plaintiffs espouse. *E.g.*, *Wasatch Prop. Mgmt. v. Degrate*, 35 Cal. 4th 1111, 1122 (2005) (in applying California law, "The court will apply common sense to the language at hand and interpret the statute to make it workable and

⁴ Plaintiffs contend that the Legislature did address the issue specifically, by defining "employee" to mean "every person, including aliens," in Labor Code section 350(b). (Op. Br. at 9.) That definition, however, applies only to "this article" of the Labor Code, id. § 350, which deals solely with employees' receipt of gratuities. If anything, the Legislature's failure similarly to define "employee" elsewhere in the Labor Code suggests an intention not to define covered "employees" so broadly for other purposes. The scope of coverage of the wage-hour law for other purposes is that expressed in *Tidewater*: A "wage earner of California' [who] presumptively enjoys the protection of [California law]" is someone who "resides in California, receives pay in California, and works exclusively, or principally, in California." 14 Cal. 4th at 578. The other case Plaintiffs cite on this point (Op. Br. at 8), DeCanas v. Bica, 424 U.S. 351 (1976), holds only that states have the police power to regulate employment within their borders. That case does not hold that states must, should — or that California here did — attempt to impose its wage-hour law on nonresidents who enter the state briefly on business travel.

reasonable.") (citation omitted). As the Ninth Circuit recognized in a recent FLSA case, practicality and administrative ease *matter*, especially in wage-hour cases. If a proposed rule of law would "creat[e] a significant administrative burden," then the proposed rule likely is one that the legislature could not have intended. *In re Farmers Ins. Exch. Overtime Pay Litig.*, 481 F.3d 1119, 1132 (9th Cir. 2007), *citing Counts v. S.C. Elec. & Gas Co.*, 317 F.3d 453, 457 (4th Cir. 2003).

Applying the Labor Code's overtime rules to these Plaintiffs would create a morass of practical problems. Plaintiffs assert that the rule they propose creates "no new additional burden No new software needs to be written. No new accounting principles have to be put in place." (Op. Br. at 20.) That is simply false. This case involves overtime compensation for allegedly nonexempt workers. The computation of pay and generation of paychecks by its nature involves software and accounting issues. What is the regular work week? How many hours were worked? On what days? What is the regular rate of pay? Is overtime owed? On which hours? At what rate?

And there is much more to wage-hour law than that.

Plaintiffs here would avoid discussing the issue, but if pressed they surely will contend that, if California's overtime rules apply to business travelers, it logically follows that other aspects of California wage-hour law must apply as well, including:

Exempt status. A threshold question is whether a worker is exempt (salaried) or nonexempt (hourly paid). California has unique tests for determining exempt status. E.g., Ramirez v. Yosemite Water Co., 20 Cal. 4th 785, 801 (1999) ("recogniz[ing] California's distinctive quantitative approach to determining [exempt status]," which differs from that prevailing elsewhere). An employee can be properly classified as exempt for FLSA and other-states' law purposes, even while nonexempt for California state-law purposes. Compare Bell v. Farmers Ins. Exch., 87 Cal. App. 4th 805, 810-29 (2001) (insurance claims adjusters are nonexempt, entitled to overtime under California law) with In re Farmers Ins. Exch. Overtime Pay Litig., 481 F.3d 1119, 1129-32 (9th Cir. 2007) (the same insurance adjusters, working in seven other states, are properly classified as exempt). Other examples of jobs that generally are exempt elsewhere, but often are nonexempt in California, include lower-level supervisors, nurses, pharmacists, and some outside salespersons.

If California's wage-hour laws apply to persons working in California on business travel, then some individuals will be properly classified as exempt for the part of the week they work elsewhere, but they must be reclassified as *non*exempt for the part of the week they work in California. That is a contradiction in terms. How does the employer pay a salary — which by its nature covers all hours worked for the week — for a period less than a week? And since *bona fide* exempt status requires the employee to be paid on a salary basis for all hours worked for the week, without regard to the quantity of work performed, 29 C.F.R. § 541.602(a), requiring hourly

pay for the day(s) of work in California would destroy the exemption for the rest of the week as well, *see id.* § 541.603(a) — including that portion worked in the individual's home state.

The logistical implications, including the computation and preparation of paychecks, are immense. As one *amicus*, suggesting rehearing *en banc* in the Ninth Circuit, noted:

Consider a national insurance company, now taking action to help policyholders victimized by the recent California wildfires. To provide emergency customer service following these natural disasters, the insurer redeploys to California extra claims adjusters, persons normally based in other states. . . .

Consider an Oregon-based adjuster. He is properly classified as exempt and paid a salary. Then he is given a special assignment: to spend a week or two working in California during the fires. Under the panel's rule, his exempt status changes when he temporarily lends an emergency hand across state lines. Suppose he worked Monday and Tuesday in Oregon. On Wednesday, the adjuster flies to California and begins work. Under the panel's rule, the adjuster is properly classified as exempt on Monday and Tuesday but becomes nonexempt on Wednesday — even though the adjuster continues to perform exactly the same duties that made him exempt the day before. How is the paycheck prepared for a week in which the individual is partly exempt and partly nonexempt? What state's pay-stub rules apply? Is it reasonable to think that the

California Legislature intended to create such impediments to interstate business travel benefiting California?

Brief for California Employment Law Council as *Amici Curiae* Supporting Defendant-Appellee at 12, *in Sullivan v. Oracle Corp.*, 557 F.3d 979 (9th Cir. Nov. 24, 2008) (No. 06-56649).

A rule of wage-hour law is "untenable" if it requires periodic reevaluation of an employee's exemption status. *Counts v. S.C. Elec. & Gas Co.*, 317 F.3d 453, 457 (4th Cir. 2003). Yet that is the result that Plaintiffs' position produces.⁵

Pay stubs. California's pay-stub rules are the most specific and restrictive in the country; California Labor Code section 226 requires (on pain of significant penalties)⁶ that a pay stub show the gross wages earned; the total hours worked by the employee; the number of piece-rate units earned; all deductions; the net wages earned; the inclusive dates of the period for which the employee is

⁵ Paycheck issues are just the beginning of the complexity and practical difficulty. Many companies give extra benefits to exempt employees: extra vacation, special bonuses and incentive plans, and stock options. Under Plaintiffs' theory, the temporary conversion of an exempt employee to nonexempt status would require the employer somehow to wrench the employee out of these special programs — for periods of as little as a single day.

⁶ Labor Code section 226(e) sets per-employee-per-pay-period penalties that can mushroom into huge sums, up to \$4,000 per employee.

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